IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-493

WILLIAM THOMPSON

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TERRI L. BACKHUS Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0946427

M. CHANCE MEYER Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 0056362

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL - SOUTH 101 NE 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 954.713.1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

In Porter v. McCollum, the United States Supreme Court ruled that this Court's Strickland analysis in Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001) was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." 130 S. Ct. 447, 455 (2009). The United States Supreme Court made that determination pursuant to the standard established by the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act ("AEDPA"), which does not permit a federal court to reverse a state court ruling on constitutional grounds simply because the federal court disagrees or the federal court thinks the state court was wrong, but rather requires what is treated as an extremely high level of deference to state court rulings, prohibiting federal courts from altering state court judgments and sentences unless the application of federal law by the state court, which in the Porter case was Strickland, was unreasonable, meaning not even supported by reason or a rationale. It is in this context that the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Porter* must be read. When asking whether Porter requires a change in this Court's jurisprudence going forward, it must be considered that the United States Supreme Court in *Porter* found this Court's application of Strickland to be so unreasonable that the United States Supreme Court found it appropriate to reach past its concerns of federalism and deference to state courts and respect for state sovereignty to correct the unconstitutional ruling.

Mr. Thompson asks this Court to consider *Porter* introspectively, looking past the first blush language of the opinion, and inquiring into whether or not *Porter* forbids something that this Court has done in the present case. Mr. Thompson asks this Court to attain a sense for the problem in conceptual approach that *Porter* identifies and then ask if something similar happened here. This Court must consider whether the unreasonable analysis in *Porter* was merely an aberration, limited solely to Mr. Porter's penalty phase ineffectiveness claim and wholly different and separate from other *Strickland* analyses by this Court, or whether it is indicative of a global conceptual issue in this Court's traditional approach to analyzing *Strickland* that it also used in Mr. Thompson's case.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Case history

On April 14, 1976, Mr. Thompson and codefendant Rocco James Surace were charged by grand jury indictment in Dade County, Florida with the first degree murder, kidnapping and involuntary sexual battery of Sally Ivester (R1. 845-46). Mr. Thompson pled guilty to the charges (R1. 854). The jury recommended a sentence of death (R1. 886). The trial court sentenced Mr. Thompson to death on June 24, 1976 (R1. 887-89). Mr. Thompson was also sentenced to life imprisonment on the remaining charges, to run concurrent to his death sentence (R1. 887). On direct appeal, this Court allowed Mr. Thompson to withdraw his plea and remanded the case for a new trial because Mr. Thompson was prejudiced by an "honest misunderstanding which contaminated the voluntariness of the pleas." *Thompson v. State*, 351 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1977), *cert. denied*, 435 U.S. 998 (1978).

After remand, Mr. Thompson again pled guilty to the charges against him on September 18, 1978 (R2. 39-57). The jury recommended a death sentence on September 20, 1978 (R2. 198a, 562-64). The trial court imposed a sentence of death, and Mr. Thompson was sentenced to life imprisonment for the remaining charges, with the sentences to run concurrently (R2. 199a, 567-73).

Mr. Thompson's guilty plea and death sentence were affirmed on direct appeal to this Court. *Thompson v. State*, 389 So. 2d 197 (Fla. 1980). Mr. Thompson then filed a motion under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850, which was denied by the trial court. The denial was affirmed by this Court. *Thompson v. State*, 410 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 1982).

After the denial of his 3.850 motion, Mr. Thompson sought federal habeas corpus relief. The United States District Court denied relief and the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the denial. *Thompson v. Wainwright*, 787 F.2d 1447 (11th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 481 U.S. 1042 (1987).

Mr. Thompson then filed a second Rule 3.850 motion, asserting the failure of the sentencing judge to allow presentation and jury consideration of nonstatutory mitigating circumstances in the penalty phase. The trial court denied relief, but this Court reversed under *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), and remanded for resentencing. *Thompson v. Dugger*, 515 So. 2d 173 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 960 (1988).

At the resentencing, the State said in its opening statement, with no objection from defense counsel: "If I asked all of you to imagine the most horrible kind of death that you could imagine, Sally Ivestor suffered" (R3. 1602). During closing, the State vilified Mr. Thompson and incited the jury's political biases in a course of argument that was unrelated to the facts of the case:

He's an anti-social personality, mean, bad, evil. That's all he is. He does what he wants, when he wants, how he wants and he just don't care, just don't care

But what I suggest to you is that some day, if this nation ever has a great debate as to whether or not to keep capital punishment, this case will be discussed because this is the worst case. You could come down here for 100 years. I don't think you will hear of another case like this.

(R3. 3071, 3076).

During trial, the State called Mr. Thompson a "retarded bump-on-a-log" and accused him of "fooling 13 good Americans" when he lied at co-defendant Rocco Surace's trial (3R. 3082-84). The State urged the jury to consider Mr. Thompson's testimony at Mr. Surace's trial as nonstatutory aggravation (R3. 3085).

The State told the jury in his closing statement that they "would have nightmares" about this case (R3. 3052). The State urged the jury to sentence Mr. Thompson to death because that sentence had been previously imposed (R3. 3038). In addition to arguing nonstatutory aggravation, the State diminished the mitigating evidence presented by the defense, stating "[t]hey want you to consider minuscule, meaningless things" (R3. 3087; 3082).

The State misrepresented the mental health testimony and told the jury that Mr. Thompson is "of average intelligence" (R3. 3072), despite testimony that he was mentally retarded.

The State's mental health expert testified inappropriately about uncharged crimes that were used by the court to reject the presence of a mitigating factor (R3. 2825-26). The medical examiner testified that although he had performed over 10,000 autopsies, "This is one of the cases that I'll never forget I can't compare it with any case I have done" (R3. 2055-56).

The State asked misleading questions regarding the possibility of Mr. Thompson's release in thirteen years; and Mr. Thompson's counsel then failed to conduct an effective redirect examination of the witness to clarify that Mr. Thompson would never be released from prison (R3. 2360).

Cumulative and gory autopsy photographs were presented to the jury during the trial.

5

Defense counsel during her closing argument told the jury that the allinclusive mitigating factor ("any other aspect of the defendant's character or record, and any other circumstance of the offense") had been limited by case law to a few enumerated examples (R3. 3102).

Defense counsel conceded without Mr. Thompson's consent that the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor applied and that the State had proven three aggravating factors beyond a reasonable doubt (R3. 3093; 3095; 3107). Trial counsel failed to secure Mr. Thompson's presence during critical stages of the proceedings (R3. 796, 879, 1665-76, 1824) and to ensure that all proceedings occurred in the presence of a court reporter. As a result, no accurate transcript of Mr. Thompson's sentencing proceedings exists.

The court gave the following jury instruction, which suggests that it is the jury's decision whether a particular witness is qualified as an expert rather than the judge:

Expert witnesses are like other witnesses, with one exception: The law permits an expert witness to give his opinion.

However, an expert's opinion is only reliable when given on a subject about which you believe him to be an expert.

Like other witnesses, you may believe or disbelieve all or any part of an expert's testimony.

(R3. 3121-22).

During voir dire at the 1989 resentencing, the jury inquired about the possibility that if Mr. Thompson received a life sentence he could be released after as little as twelve years. This inquiry came about because Mr. Thompson had already been incarcerated for thirteen years (since 1976) at the time of his resentencing. Defense counsel requested individual voir dire to explore the jurors' bias towards the death penalty because of this expressed concern. Defense counsel also moved to strike the panel. After these requests were denied, defense counsel accepted the court's jury instruction which avoided the issue altogether. But the jury instruction was insufficient to cure the prejudice which infected the entire resentencing proceeding. Mr. Thompson's trial counsel failed to request that the court inform the jury why Mr. Thompson was being resentenced twelve years after the crime; the jury was simply told: "You are not to concern yourself, or yourselves, with the passage of time, since the 1976 arrest and incarceration of the defendant on those charges" (R3. 1004). Mr. Thompson's counsel did not present evidence that Mr. Thompson would not be eligible for parole if sentenced to life in prison. During voir dire, venireperson Garson expressed this concern: "... so in other words, he only has to go for twelve? ... is he actually getting twenty-five years or twelve, the thirteen years he's been on the cooker?" (R3. 1361).

Defense counsel noted that other potential jurors were laughing and expressed his fear that the jury possessed a bias against returning a life

7

recommendation because of the mistaken belief that Mr. Thompson would only serve twelve years. Defense counsel requested individual voir dire on this issue, moved to strike Mr. Garson for cause, and moved to strike the entire panel (R3. 1369-75). The court denied all motions and simply instructed the jury that Mr. Garson's question "is irrelevant to your consideration The parole consequences, if any, are not for your consideration" (R3. 1389).

However, Mr. Garson made repeated expressions of concern. After receiving the instruction, he stated: "I still feel that I'm asked to judge the two scales of justice and I have to know what's on those scales. Now, with all due respect, his answer did not answer my question" (R3. 1399). Mr. Garson continued:

> MR. GARSON: Again, I go back to my question, which was never answered, that is: is a twenty-five years from the point retroactive on the point he went in or is it retroactive from when he will be-

STATE: We can't answer that question.

MR. GARSON: In other words, is it conceivable, is it possible he could go in twelve years and be out in twelve years?

(R3. 1399-1400).

Defense counsel renewed his request for individual voir dire, moved to strike Mr. Garson, and moved to strike the entire panel because "his comments contaminated everybody in this room" (R3. 1401-03). The motions were denied (R3. 1406). However, defense counsel failed to quell the jury's fears that a life sentence would mean Mr. Thompson's early release.

Defense counsel failed to tell the jury that Mr. Thompson pled guilty and was sentenced to two life sentences for kidnapping and sexual battery. The jury should have been instructed or received expert testimony that those sentences, with a life sentence without parole for twenty-five years, would have been considered by the parole commission as life without parole. Because Mr. Thompson's two life sentences are consecutive to each other, the prospect of his release even after twenty-five years is nonexistent. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to present this evidence to the jury.

The circuit court admitted the prior testimony of the witness Barbara Savage from the prior sentencing proceeding and denied the defense an opportunity to ascertain her whereabouts and the reason for her unavailability by denying a motion for a continuance. Counsel was also denied the appointment of appellate counsel to file an interlocutory appeal of the circuit court's adverse ruling.

At the resentencing, the trial court excluded the testimony of defense witnesses who would have testified that Mr. Thompson should not be sentenced to death, including the judge who sentenced Mr. Thompson to death in 1976 (R3. 2153, 2161, 2192, 2211, 2225, 2434, 2616, 2659). The trial court declined to

9

disqualify Assistant State Attorney David Waksman, who was a material witness due to his involvement in the unavailability of Ms. Savage (R3. 153-56).

On June 6, 1989, Mr. Thompson's jury recommended death by a vote of seven-to-five (R3. 3192-94). Since there was only a general verdict form, there was no indication of which aggravators the jury found. Following the jury's recommendation, the trial court imposed a sentence of death on August 25, 1989 (R3. 3336). Mr. Thompson received life sentences for the remaining counts of the indictment, to run consecutive to each other (R3. 3336). *Thompson v. State*, 619 So. 2d 261 (Fla. 1993).

On direct appeal, this Court struck the "cold, calculated and premeditated" aggravating factor but found the error to be harmless, found that any error in the "heinous, atrocious and cruel" jury instruction was also harmless, found that the trial judge's failure to find any mitigation despite the previous judge's finding of two statutory mitigators was harmless, and affirmed Mr. Thompson's death sentence from his resentencing. *Thompson v. State*, 619 So. 2d 261 (Fla. 1993).¹

¹ The issues raised on direct appeal were as follows: (1) the trial court erred in ruling the State's chief witness was unavailable; (2) the trial court erred by failing to grant Mr. Thompson's motion to strike the jury panel and failing to conduct individual voir dire; (3) the trial court erred by permitting the State to introduce Mr. Thomson's prior inconsistent testimony; (4) the trial court erred in allowing the State to introduce gruesome photographs; (5) the trial court erred in unfairly limiting the testimony of defense witnesses; and, (6) the trial court erred in sentencing Mr. Thompson to death in violation of his due process and equal protection rights.

Mr. Thompson timely filed a petition for writ of certiorari, which the United States Supreme Court denied on November 8, 1993. *Thompson v. Florida*, 510 U.S. 966 (1993).

On November 8, 1995, Mr. Thompson timely filed a Rule 3.850 motion. This motion was summarily denied on December 12, 1995 because the trial court mistakenly believed that Mr. Thompson had not verified the pleading as required by Rule 3.850. Mr. Thompson appealed. On August 19, 1996, this Court relinquished jurisdiction on the State's motion back to the trial court in order to hold a *Huff* hearing.²

On March 6, 1997, following the *Huff* hearing, circuit court Judge Robbie Barr summarily denied Mr. Thompson's motion.³ This Court affirmed the lower court's denial. *Thompson v. State*, 759 So. 2d 650 (Fla. 2000).

 $^{^{2}}$ *Huff v. State*, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993) requires hearings to determine whether Rule 3.850 claimants will receive evidentiary hearings on certain claims.

³ Mr. Thompson raised the following claims: (1) denial of his rights under *Spalding v. Dugger*; (2) denial of access to public records; (3) lack of reliable transcript of his appeal; (4) denial of proper direct appeal due to omissions in the record; (5) guilty plea was not knowing, intelligent and voluntary; (6) no competent mental health expert was appointed; (7) failure to conduct an adequate competency evaluation; (8) Mr. Thompson was incompetent during his plea, sentencing and direct appeal; (9) a *Lackey* claim; (10) Mr. Thompson did not make a knowing, intelligent and voluntary waiver of any rights; (11) counsel had a conflict of interest and violated Mr. Thompson's Sixth Amendment right; (12) Mr. Thompson was denied adversarial testing on his first trial; (13) Mr. Thompson was denied adversarial testing on his second trial and penalty phase; (14) gruesome photographs prevented a fair trial; (15) newly discovered evidence; (16) a *Brady*

Mr. Thompson filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus on June 14, 2001. On December 14, 2001, the district court dismissed the petition as mixed because Mr. Thompson had raised issues regarding *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304 (2002), which had been recently granted certiorari and which directly applied to Mr. Thompson.

An appeal was taken to the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, which affirmed the lower court. *Thompson v. Moore*, 320 F.3d 1228 (11th Cir. 2003). On August 4, 2003, Mr. Thompson filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court and on April 4, 2005, the petition was granted. The

claim; (17) trial counsel was ineffective; (18) impermissible burden shifting; (19) failure to find mitigation in the record; (20) prosecutorial misconduct; (21) failure of Florida's capital sentencing statute to prevent arbitrary and capricious imposition of the death penalty; (22) erroneous failure to disqualify assistant state attorney; (23) improper automatic aggravating circumstance; (24) ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase of Mr. Thompson's trial; (25) ineffective assistance of counsel at penalty phase; (26) an Ake v. Oklahoma claim; (27) a Caldwell v. Mississippi claim; (28) cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstance is unconstitutionally vague; (29) constitutionally inadequate harmless error analysis; (30) no limiting construction on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating circumstance; (31) overbroad and vague aggravating circumstances; (32) failure to find statutory mitigating circumstances; (33) non-statutory aggravating circumstances; (34) improper doubling of aggravating circumstances; (35) cumulative error occurred; (36) failure by the court to define "reasonable doubt;" (37) failure to request instruction regarding length of life sentence; (38) inability to interview jurors; (39) juror misconduct; (40) failure by the trial court to strike the jury panel; (41) misleading of jury as to reasons for resentencing; (42) erroneous introduction of previous testimony by chief state witness; (43) invalid jury instruction on expert testimony; and, (44) failure by the trial court to allow testimony of prior judge at resentencing.

United States Supreme Court vacated the judgment and remanded the case to the Eleventh Circuit. *Thompson v. Crosby*, 544 U.S. 957 (2005). On September 26, 2005, the Eleventh Circuit vacated the dismissal of the petition and remanded to the district court. *Thompson v. Secretary for Dep't. of Corrections*, 425 F.3d 1364 (11th Cir. 2005).

On November 18, 2005, the district court denied Mr. Thompson's request for a stay to pursue his *Atkins* claim in state court. On December 19, 2005, Mr. Thompson elected to dismiss his unexhausted claims and proceed with his exhausted claims. On December 5, 2005, the district court issued an order reopening the case. On July 21, 2006, the district court denied the petition.

On November 15, 2001, Mr. Thompson filed a Rule 3.850 motion shortly after the enactment of Florida Statute § 921.137, which was signed into law by Governor Bush on June 12, 2001, one day before Mr. Thompson's federal habeas petition was due. Section 921.137 prohibits the execution of mentally retarded individuals. An amended Rule 3.850 motion was filed on June 18, 2003 and was dismissed by the circuit court. The circuit court requested that the State prepare an order dismissing Mr. Thompson's Amended Rule 3.850 motion. This was done without notice to Mr. Thompson or his counsel by *ex parte* hearings before the circuit court.

As a result, Mr. Thompson filed a motion to disqualify the judge on August 8, 2003. The first time Mr. Thompson's counsel was noticed and appeared before the court was after the motion to disqualify had been filed. During the disqualification hearing, the circuit court acknowledged that the clerk had noticed a defense attorney who was deceased. The circuit court denied Mr. Thompson's motion to disqualify on September 4, 2003. At no time was counsel given an opportunity to argue the propriety of dismissing the Rule 3.851 motion or that the amended motion was improperly dismissed based on the State's erroneous interpretation of the Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851.

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