IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-493

WILLIAM LEE THOMPSON,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5655

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

³ Using Defendant's analogy, the task of determining prejudice involves taking the bag of red and green apples as it existed from the time of trial, determining whether the new evidence actually adds any new red and green apples based on whether they are support by credible, non-cumulative evidence, adding both the new red and green apples and deciding whether the defendant has proven that the total amount of red apples outweigh the total amount of green apples. *Porter*, 130 S. Ct. at 453-54; *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695-96.

certain penalties; or (2) be of "sufficient magnitude to necessitate retroactive application as ascertained by the threefold test of *Stovall* and *Linkletter*." *Id*. at 929. Application of that three prong test requires consideration of the purpose served by the new case; the extent of reliance on the old law; and the effect on the administration of justice from retroactive application. *Ferguson v. State*, 789 So. 2d 306, 311 (Fla. 2001).

Here, Defendant did not attempt to show that the change in law he alleged was made in *Porter* met the *Witt* standard in his motion for post conviction relief or at the *Huff* hearing. (PCR6. 54-76, 130-31) Instead, he simply suggested that because this Court had found that *Hitchcock* v. *Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), constituted a retroactive change in law, the lower court should find that *Porter* was also retroactive. *Id.* Given Defendant's failure to address the *Witt* factors, the lower court properly determined that Defendant had not shown that he was entitled to retroactive application of the alleged change in law in *Porter*. It should be affirmed.

This is particularly true since Defendant did not suggest that *Hitchcock* and *Porter* were alike in ways that actually were relevant to a *Witt* analysis. Instead, he compared them based on the stage of the proceedings at which the error was found and

the manner in which the United States Supreme Court issued its opinion. However, when one considers the difference in the errors found in those cases and the relationship between those errors and the *Witt* standard, the lower court was correct in rejecting this argument.

In Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. at 398-99, the Court found that the giving of a jury instruction that told the jury not to consider nonstatutory mitigation was improper. As such, the purpose of finding this error was to permit a jury to consider evidence the defendant had a constitutional right to have considered. Moreover, because the jury instruction was only given in the penalty phase and could only have harmed a defendant if he was sentenced to death, the number of cases in which there had been an error that would need retroactive correction was limited. Further, because the error was in a jury instruction, determining whether that error occurred in a particular case was simple. All one needed to do was review the jury instructions that had been given in a particular case to see if it was the offending instruction. Courts were not required to comb through stale records looking for errors. See State v. Glenn, 558 So. 2d 4, 8 (Fla. 1990) (refusing to apply Carawan v. State, 515 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1987), retroactively). Thus, the purpose of the new rule, extent of reliance on the old

rule and effect on the administration of justice in *Hitchcock* militated in favor of retroactivity.

In contrast, *Porter* involved nothing more than determining that this Court had unreasonably applied a correctly stated rule of law to the facts of a particular case, as noted above. Thus, the purpose of Porter was nothing more than to correct an error in the application of the law to the facts of a particular case. the lower court found, Florida courts Moreover, as have extensively relied on the standard of review from Strickland that this Court recognized in Stephens and the effect on the administration of justice from applying the alleged change in law in Porter retroactively would be to bring the courts of Florida to a screeching halt as they combed through stale records to re-evaluate the merits of every claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that had ever been denied in Florida.

Given these stark difference in the analysis of the changes in law in *Porter* and *Hitchcock* and their relationship to the *Witt* factors, the lower court properly determined that the alleged change in law from *Porter* would not be retroactive under *Witt* even if it had occurred. In fact, the more apt analogy regarding a change in law would be the change in law that this Court recognized in *Stephens* itself, as both changes in law concerned the same legal issue. However, making that analogy

merely shows that the lower court was correct to deny this motion. In Johnston v. Moore, 789 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 2001), this Court held the change in law in Stephens was not retroactive under Witt. Given the facts that Porter would fail the Witt test if it had changed the law and that this Court has already determined that changing the law regarding the standard of review for ineffective assistance of counsel claims does not meet Witt, the lower court properly determined that any change in law that Porter might have made would not be retroactive. Thus, it properly found that this motion was time barred and should be affirmed.

In a belated attempt to show that he is entitled to retroactive application of the alleged error in Porter, Defendant suggests that he meets the Witt standard because the alleged purpose of the alleged change in law is to correct an He then asserts that neither the extent of reliance on error. the old rule nor the effect on the administration of justice can However, Defendant never presented this argument be known. As such, it is not properly before this Court. below. See Perez v. State, 919 So. 2d 347, 359 (Fla. 2005); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). The argument should be rejected.

Further, this argument is nothing more than a call for this

Court to abandon Witt in favor of a rule that all alleged changes in law are retroactive. Anytime a court changes the law, it does so because it believes the old law was erroneous. Thus, Defendant's suggested purpose would apply to any change in law. Moreover, Defendant's assertions about the other two prongs suggest that they are irrelevant. However, this Court held in Witt that only those changes in law about which the of the factors favored retroactivity would balance apply retroactively because of the devastating effect on the important interest in finality of decisions that would occur if all changes in law were determined to be retroactive. Witt, 387 So. 2d at 925-27. As such, Defendant's argument that this Court should apply Witt in a manner that abandons Witt in favor of a rule that all alleged changes in law are retroactive should be rejected. The lower court should be affirmed.

This is particularly true here since Defendant's arguments are unsupportable. While it is true that Porter did involve correcting an error, that error concerned simply the unreasonable application of a properly stated rule of law to the facts of a particular case. Williams, 529 U.S. at 413. Given the limited nature of that error, the purpose of correcting that error would not extend beyond Porter. Further, while Defendant suggests that it is impossible to know the extent of reliance on

the old law, this is not true. All one would need to do is sheppardize the cases that Defendant claims were overruled and remember that they represent only the tip of the iceberg, as Fla. R. App. P. 9.141(b)(2) provides for summary appeals in noncapital cases in which post conviction motions were summarily denied, Defendant's motion as was, such that not all applications of the precedent would be reported. However, undertaking this task would merely show that the lower court was correct in finding that the extent of reliance was great and that the effect on the administration of justice would be vast. Given these circumstances, the lower court properly determined that the alleged change in law was not retroactive under Witt. It should be affirmed.

In an attempt to avoid this result, Defendant asserts that he is not claiming that *Porter* error was committed every time a Florida Court had ruled on an ineffective assistance claim. Initial Brief at 27 n.6. Not only does Defendant offer no explanation of how this could be true, but also it is fundamentally inconsistent with the position he has taken at every stage of this litigation and his assertion of how Porter applies to his case. In both his motion for post conviction relief and his brief to this Court, Defendant argues that Porter constitutes a "fundamental repudiation of this Court's

Strickland jurisprudence." Initial Brief at 19; PCR6. 48. Moreover, at the Huff hearing, Defendant argued that Porter showed a "general error" regarding the "general posture" that this Court had taken in analyzing ineffective assistance claims. (PCR6. 131-34) Thus, if Defendant were correct that the United States Supreme Court had fundamentally repudiated this Court's Strickland jurisprudence by finding that this Court had committed a general error based on the general posture in which this Court analyzes Strickland claims, the error would have to affect every ineffective assistance of counsel claim this Court has every decided. Moreover, because the lower state courts are bound to follow this Court's precedent, Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 1973); see also Hernandez v. Garwood, 390 So. 2d 357 (Fla. 1980), all of their decisions about Strickland claims would be subject to this claim as well. Thus, despite Defendant's protestations to the contrary, the lower court was correct that the change in law that Defendant contends was made in Porter would affect every denial of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel since *Strickland* was decided in 1984.

The fact that the alleged error would affect every case becomes all the more clear when one considered the effect Defendant is claiming the change in law had in this case. Neither in the lower court nor in this Court is Defendant

asserting that the alleged error in *Porter* affected this case by evidence showing that this Court ignored new mitigation presented at a post conviction evidentiary hearing. Instead, he is claiming that Porter affected this Court's summary rejection of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to jury instructions and comments and for failing to convince the trial court to rule in his favor on issues that trial counsel did raise. Initial Brief at 50-59; PCR6. 61-68. Moreover, the claims were rejected not on prejudice but because they were procedurally barred, did not show a deficiency or were insufficiently plead. Thompson, 759 So. 2d at 660, 661-62, 663-67. Given the manner in which Defendant is claiming Porter applies to his case, there is no claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that was ever previously raised to which the alleged error would not apply if Defendant was correct about Porter Thus, the lower court was correct to find changing the law. that retroactive application of Porter would affected ever claim of ineffective assistance of counsel ever denied in Florida. Defendant's contrary assertion should be rejected, and the lower court affirmed.

In another belated attempt to show that the alleged change in law here meets *Witt*, Defendant compares the alleged change from *Porter* to the change in law in *Espinosa v. Florida*, 505

U.S. 1079 (1992). However, this comparison is even more flawed that the comparison to *Hitchcock*. As was true of *Hitchcock*, the alleged error concerned a jury instruction given at the penalty phase. *Espinosa*, 505 U.S. at 1080-81. As the United States Supreme Court has held, the constitution only imposes two requirements on a capital sentencing scheme: (1) that it limit the class of death-eligible individuals, and (2) that it allow individualized consideration of mitigation. *Kansas v. Marsh*, 548 U.S. 163, 173-74 (2006). Thus, as was true in *Hitchcock*, the purpose of *Espinosa* was to correct an error in one of those requirements.

Further, the class of cases in which retroactive application of Espinosa was available was even more limited than In James v. State, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. in *Hitchcock*. 1993), this Court limited retroactive application of Espinosa to those cases in which the defendant had objected to the instruction at trial and raised the issue on direct appeal. Thus, the class of eligible cases was not only limited to those cases in which the offending jury instruction was given and the defendant was sentenced to death but also to those cases in which the issue had been pursue previously. Given this limitation on the class of eligible cases and the ease with which a determination of whether the error had occurred and

whether the defendant was eligible for correction could be made, the extent of reliance on the old rule and the effect on the administration of justice were limited and favored retroactivity.

Again, the purpose of Porter was nothing more than to correct an error in the application of the correct law to the facts of a particular case. Moreover, as the lower court found, Florida courts have extensively relied on the standard of review from Strickland that this Court recognized in Stephens and the effect on the administration of justice from applying the alleged change in law in *Porter* retroactively would be to bring the courts of Florida to a screeching halt as they combed through stale records to re-evaluate the merits of every claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that had ever been denied in Florida. Thus, Defendant's attempt to analogize the change in law that he alleges was made in *Porter* to the change of law in Espinosa is even less apt than his comparison to Hitchcock. The lower court properly determined that the Witt standard would not be met had Porter changed the law. It should be affirmed.

Moreover, it should be remembered that this claim is procedurally barred. Defendant is seeking nothing more than to relitigate the claims of ineffective assistance of counsel that he raised in his third motion for post conviction relief and

As this Court has held, such attempts to relitigate lost. claims that have previously been raised and rejected are procedurally barred. See Wright v. State, 857 So. 2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003). Under the law of the case doctrine, Defendant cannot relitigate a claim that has been denied by the trial court and affirmed by the appellate court. State v. McBride, 2d 287, 289-290 (Fla. 2003). is also well 848 So. It established that piecemeal litigation of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is clearly prohibited. Pope v. State, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247, (Fla. 1996). 248 Since this is precisely what Defendant is attempting to do here, his claim is barred and was correctly denied. See Topps v. State, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004)(discussing application of res judicata to claims previously litigated on the merits).

In fact, this Court has rejected attempts to relitigate ineffective assistance claims simply because the United States Supreme Court issued opinions indicating that state courts have erred in rejecting claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. *Marek v. State*, 8 So. 3d 1123 (Fla. 2009). There, the defendant argued that his previously rejected claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase had to be reevaluated under the standards enunciated in *Rompilla v. Beard*,

545 U.S. 374 (2005), Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510 (2003), and Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362 (2000), because they had changed the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland. This Court decisively rejected the claim, stating "the United States Supreme Court in these cases did not change the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland." Marek, 8 So. 3d at 1128. This Court did so even though the United States Supreme Court had found under the AEDPA standard of review that state courts had improperly rejected these claims. Given these circumstance, the claim was barred and was properly denied. The lower court should be affirmed.

Even if Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B) could apply to changes in law regarding existing rights that had yet to be held retroactive, *Porter* had changed the law, the alleged change in law was retroactive and the claim was not procedurally barred, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. As the Court recognized in *Witt*, a defendant is not entitled to relief based on a change in law, where the change would not affect the disposition of the claim. *Witt*, 387 So. 2d at 930-31. Moreover, as the Court recognized in *Strickland*, there is no reason to address the prejudice prong if a defendant fails to show that his counsel was deficient. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at

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